IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-2075

DELTA PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, DCA CASE NO. 1D05-396 INC.,

____/

Petitioner,

vs.

PROFILE INVESTMENTS, INC.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JOHN R. BERANEK, ESQ. AUSLEY & MCMULLEN Co-counsel for DELTA 227 S. Calhoun Street Post Office Box 391 Tallahassee, FL 32302-0391 Telephone: (850) 224-9115

JOHN R. HARGROVE, ESQ. HARGROVE PIERSON & BROWN P.A. Co-counsel for DELTA 21 S.E. 5th Street, Suite 200 Boca Raton, FL 33432 Telephone: (561) 300-3900

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Ι

THE CASE

This tax sale forfeiture case initially came before this Court nearly six years ago. See <u>Delta Property Mgmt., Inc. v.</u> <u>Profile Investments, Inc.</u>, 875 So. 2d 443 (Fla. 2004), quashing, 830 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). At issue were notices of tax sale sent to petitioner, the property owner, at an outdated address and to the mortgagee in care of the wrong company. <u>Id.</u> Several months before the notice was sent, petitioner notified the tax collector of a change in address, yet the tax collector did not post the change. <u>Id</u>. at 445. Both notices were returned as "undeliverable." The clerk did nothing further to locate petitioner or the mortgagee, and initially on appeal the First District found that the clerk had no duty to look beyond the tax collector's statement. <u>Id</u>. This Court disagreed with the First District's analysis and reversed. <u>Id</u>. at 446-48.

After the mandate was issued by this Court in 2004, two intervening tax sale notice decisions were rendered, namely <u>Jones v. Flowers</u>, 547 U.S. 220 (2006) and <u>Vosilla v. Rosado</u>, 944 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 2006). Those cases clarified what due process requires when a notice of tax sale is returned to the clerk as undelivered. In Jones, the Court said:

We hold that when mailed notice of a tax sale is returned unclaimed, the State must take additional reasonable steps to attempt to provide notice to the property owner before selling his property, if it is practicable to do so. 547 U.S. at 225.

Relying on <u>Jones</u>, this Court in <u>Vosilla</u> added that where notices are returned, the additional steps to be taken by the clerk are defined by the circumstances of the particular case:

> Such circumstances include unique information about an intended recipient that might require the taxing authority to make efforts beyond those required by the scheme under ordinary statutory circumstances.

> [D]ue process required that the clerk of court take additional reasonable steps to notify the [property owners] of the tax deed sale prior to selling their property, such as checking to determine whether a change of address had been submitted. 944 So. 2d at 299-301 (emphasis added).

Surprisingly, the First District determined that <u>Jones</u> and <u>Vosilla</u> were not applicable. Relying on the judicially created doctrine of "law of the case," it reasoned that the mandate announced in this Court's 2004 decision limited the scope of the trial court's inquiry on remand to a single question: whether petitioner's current address appeared on the most recent tax assessment roll. *See* <u>Profile Investments, Inc. v. Delta Property</u> <u>Management, Inc.</u>, 19 So. 3d 1013 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009). (A: 1-11)

THE FACTS

When petitioner failed to pay its 1997 taxes, a tax certificate was issued by the City of Jacksonville/Duval County Tax Authority. (A: 2) Respondent purchased the tax certificate in April of 1998. (Id.) In December of 1999, petitioner provided the tax collector with a new address. 875 So. 2d at 444 n.4. Due to unexplained delays in the tax collector's office, however, the new address was not posted by May 30, 2000, the date on which the tax collector provided the clerk of the circuit court with the tax roll for the purpose of giving the statutory notice of sale. Id. at 444. The clerk then waited over three months before preparing a notice of tax sale, which was mailed to petitioner in September of 2000 at the old The problem was compounded when the clerk sent address. Id. notice of the pending sale to the mortgagee in care of the wrong company name. Both notices were returned to the clerk as undeliverable. Id. It is undisputed that the clerk took no further steps to provide any form of notice either to petitioner or the mortgagee. The property was consequently forfeited. Id.

After the tax sale, respondent brought this action to quiet title. (A: 3) Petitioner counterclaimed asserting that it was still the titleholder because the clerk had failed to provide

3

II

proper notice. (Id.) Cross motions for summary judgment were filed and respondent prevailed, with the trial court concluding that the clerk was not required to look beyond the statement submitted by the tax collector to determine whether the names and addresses of the parties were correctly listed. (Id.) The First District affirmed. See Delta Property Mgmt., Inc. v. Profile Invests., Inc., 830 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). Petitioner then sought review in this Court which accepted jurisdiction and reversed. See Delta, 875 So. 2d at 443. Speaking for a unanimous Court, Justice Quince said that while the clerks ought to use the tax collector's statement when preparing the tax sale notices, "circumstances may warrant some additional action by the clerk." Id. at 448 (emphasis added). For example, there can come a time when based on various conditions the tax collector's statement no longer represents those entitled to notice. Id.

After remand, <u>Jones</u> and <u>Vosilla</u> were decided. Relying on the constitutional requirements of those cases, the Duval County circuit judge in this case, the Honorable Karen Cole, held that the clerk's failure to take any additional steps to notify the owner and the mortgagee violated due process. (A: 6)

On appeal once again, the First District reversed. This petition followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case, petitioner forfeited a piece of commercial real property valued at over \$1 million because it inadvertently failed to pay its 1997 property taxes. As evidence of petitioner's inadvertence, the taxes for years both before and after were timely paid. The dispute in this case arose because the notice of tax sale was sent to petitioner, as owner, at an outdated address and to the mortgagee in care of the wrong The notices were returned to the clerk company. as "undeliverable." No further attempts were made to notify either Despite the manifest injustice which resulted, party. in multiple instances the First District has rubber-stamped the clerk's inaction.

After this Court quashed the First District's approval of the tax sale in 2004 based on due process concerns, two intervening decisions were issued by the United States Supreme Court and by this Court which clarified what due process requires in connection with notices of tax sale. Both Courts held that where a notice of tax sale is returned, the state must take additional steps, if practicable, to locate the owner. The trial court applied those decisions and set aside the tax deed. The First District, however, failed to recognize the binding effect of the intervening decisions and ruled that the tax sale

was valid. Justifying its failure to apply those principles on the basis of the law of the case doctrine, the First District improperly reinstated the tax deed. In so ruling, the First District has created direct conflict with this Court's recent decision regarding due process in this context. It has also created conflict with other cases which have recognized and applied a "manifest injustice" exception to the law of the case doctrine when relevant intervening decisions have been issued by higher courts. In addition, the decision under review affects a class of constitutional officers by condoning actions which this Court and the United States Supreme Court have disapproved.

ARGUMENT

Ι

GROUNDS FOR JURISDICTION

Review is sought because the decision of the First District expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court as well as decisions of district courts of appeal on the same point of law, and because it expressly affects a class of constitutional or state officers. <u>Fla. Const.</u> Art. V, § 3(b)(3); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii) & (iv).

A. Conflict With Vosilla and Its Progeny.

In <u>Vosilla</u>, this Court said that due process requirements are not to be viewed too narrowly. 944 So. 2d at 297. A

unanimous Court determined that even though <u>Florida Statutes</u> § 197.332 "imposes an affirmative duty on all property owners to know of and to pay their current and delinquent taxes ... 'knowledge of delinquency in the payment of taxes is not equivalent to notice that a tax sale is pending.'" 944 So. 2d at 297-98. Referring to its 2004 ruling in this case, the Court said that the clerk must look to the latest assessment roll to determine if the property owner has filed a change of address. But recognizing that <u>Jones</u> adds a new dimension to the notice analysis, the Court added that circumstances may warrant *additional* steps to be taken. 944 So. 2d at 298.

> Due process requires that the clerk look beyond the tax collector's statement when there is reason to believe that the statement no longer reflects those who are entitled to notice ... or ... the statement no longer reflects the titleholder's correct address. Id. at 299.

The point is made -- due process is not a static concept to be applied narrowly when fundamental property rights are at risk of being forfeited. The manner in which this case was decided by the First District, however, conflicts with both <u>Vosilla</u> and recent district court decisions which have applied the due process principles in <u>Vosilla</u>. <u>See Patricia Weingarten</u> <u>Associates, Inc. v. Jocalbro, Inc.</u>, 974 So. 2d 559 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008) (invalidating tax sale and remanding for entry of judgment

for property owner); <u>see also</u> <u>Singleton v. Eli B. Investment</u> Corp., 968 So. 2d 702 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).

B. Conflict Regarding Law of the Case.

The law of the case doctrine gives way to intervening decisions of higher courts on the same point of law where application of the doctrine would create a manifest injustice. In <u>State v. Owen</u>, 696 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 1997), for example, this Court stated that the doctrine is "not an absolute mandate" and that the issuance of an intervening decision by a higher court is "one of the exceptional situations" when the doctrine should *not* be applied. Thus, where reliance on a prior decision "would result in manifest injustice," the doctrine yields to the concept of fairness. Id. at 720.

To the same effect is <u>Strazzulla v. Hendrick</u>, 177 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1965). Observing that the law of the case should not be applied "where manifest injustice will result from a strict and rigid adherence to the rule," this Court said:

> Another clear example of a case in which an exception to the general rule should be made results from an intervening decision by a higher court contrary to the decision reached on the former appeal, the correction of the error making unnecessary an appeal to the higher court. 177 So. 2d at 4.

<u>See also</u> <u>State v. McBride</u>, 848 So. 2d 287, 291 (Fla. 2003); Dougherty v. City of Miami, 2009 WL 3190382 (Fla. 3d DCA Oct. 7, 2009) (citing <u>Strazzulla</u>). One recent decision has taken the position that "[w]here ... a manifest injustice has occurred *it is the responsibility of the court to correct that injustice*, if it can." See <u>Lago v. State</u>, 975 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008) (emphasis added). Cases involving forfeitures of real property fall within a well-defined category of unfairness. <u>Jones</u>, 547 U.S. at 230. Despite that, the First District in this case took an inflexible approach to the law of the case doctrine that perpetuates injustice and unfairness.

C. Effect on Classes of Constitutional Officers.

decision under review The interprets the procedures regarding the constitutionally mandated "notice" when real property is at risk of being forfeited in a tax sale. These procedures are, by virtue of strictly construed statutes, implemented through the joint efforts of the clerks of the circuit courts and tax collectors throughout the state. See Florida Statutes §§ 197.502(4) (a) & 197.522(1). This Court has already recognized the impact of this matter on constitutional officers. See Delta, 875 So. 2d at 443-44.

II

JURISDICTION SHOULD BE EXERCISED

Tax sales are not statutory traps for the unwary. In this case the State through its own shortcomings failed to notify

both the owner and the mortgagee that property was about to be forfeited. As the United States Supreme Court said in Jones:

> No one "desirous of actually informing" the owners would simply shrug his shoulders as the letters disappeared and say "I tried." Failure to follow up would be unreasonable, despite the fact that the letters were reasonably calculated to reach their intended recipients when delivered to the postman. 547 U.S. at 229.

Like the clerk in <u>Jones</u>, the clerk in this case may have had a reasonable calculation on how to reach the owner, but once the notices were returned, there was likewise good reason to suspect that the owner was "no better off than if the notice had never been sent." <u>Id</u>. at 230. What could be more unjust than a government which dilly-dallies in updating its own records, then permits property to be taken as a consequence? This Court should not countenance such a ruling.

CONCLUSION

This Court is urged to permit the matter to be briefed on the merits in order to allow petitioner to demonstrate that the law of the case doctrine is not a safe harbor for the courts or the clerks where due process has been denied.