IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

DELTA PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, INC.

Petitioner, Case No. SC09-2075

vs. 1st DCA Case No. 1D08-515

PROFILE INVESTMENTS, INC.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

William S. Graessle Florida Bar No. 498858 William S. Graessle, P.A. 219 Newnan Street, 4th Floor Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 353-6333 (904) 353-2080 facsimile

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The only facts relevant for a conflict analysis are those appearing within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict. Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

The decision of the First District for which review is sought centers on Delta's abandonment of the theory it had advocated since the onset of the litigation nine years ago. After two prior appeals in the First District and one decision on the merits by this Court, Delta attempted to proceed on an entirely new theory after realizing its prior theory had no factual or legal basis. *Sub judice*, the First District unanimously held that this violated the law of the case doctrine, citing this Court's decision in Fla. Dept. of Transp. V. Juliano, 801 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 2001), and its own decision in Parker Family Trust I v. City of Jacksonville, 804 so. 2d 493 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001).

The First District extensively addressed this Court's decision in this case,

Delta Property Management, Inc. v. Profile Investments, Inc., 875 So. 2d 443 (Fla.

2004). Delta failed to pay its taxes, Profile purchased the property at a tax sale,
and sued to quiet title. Delta counterclaimed, alleging that the clerk failed to
comply with the statute and had not provided proper notice of the sale, as Delta
had allegedly provided the tax collector with a "new" address to which notice
should have been sent and if the clerk had used the "latest assessment roll," Delta's

new address would have been thereon and it would have received notice.

Summary judgment was entered for Profile, with the trial court "concluding that the clerk was not required to look beyond the statement to determine if the names and addresses of the parties were correctly listed on the tax collector's statement."

(Op. at 2-3). At no time did Delta ever challenge the statute's constitutionality, either facially or as applied, instead arguing only that it had been denied due process because the clerk failed to follow the statutory requirements as to where notice was to be sent.

The First District affirmed, 830 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), and this Court reversed, holding that the provisions of §197.522(4)(a), Florida Statutes, require notice be given at "the address of the legal title holder as it appears on the latest assessment roll." This Court's holding in this summary judgment case (with no record on the dispositive issue), was that "the Clerk erred by mailing the notice to Delta at the address listed in the tax collector's statement (i.e., the 1999 address) without determining if the 2000 tax assessment roll was available." (Op. at 4, quoting 875 So. 2d at 447). As the First District recognized, this Court's remand was to determine if Delta's alleged new address, to which it claimed notice of the tax sale should have been mailed, was "reasonably ascertainable" from the "latest tax assessment roll." (Id., quoting 875 So. 2d at 448).

Profile then moved for summary judgment on this issue, proving the 2000 assessment roll was not available to the clerk until long after the notices of sale were mailed and the sale held (Op. at 4-5). In violation of this Court's decision, the trial court quieted title in Delta and on appeal by Profile, the First District reversed, holding, "there is a factual dispute over whether Delta's new address was reasonably ascertainable from the latest tax assessment roll available at the time the clerk mailed the notice of the tax deed sale." (Op. at 5, quoting Profile Inv., Inc. v. Delta Property Mgmt., Inc., 913 So. 2d 661, 662 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), review denied, 929 So.2d 1052 (Fla. 2006)). As the First District stated, "through protracted litigation, then, including two summary judgments, two appeals to this court, and review by the Florida Supreme Court, this case moved inexorably toward resolution on the question of whether an updated tax roll would have been available to the clerk and, if so, whether such roll would have allowed the clerk to provide better notice to Delta." (Op. at 5).

After discovery, Profile again moved for summary judgment as the undisputed facts showed there is no "updated assessment roll" prepared by the property appraiser's office on July 1 that would have been available to the tax collector or the clerk. July 1 starts the process of updating the assessment roll, and culminates in certification of the final tax roll; this occurred here more than two months after the notices of sale were served by the clerk and over one month after

the sale (Op. at 5-6). Profile also proved that <u>even if</u> the tax collector or clerk could have accessed the property appraiser's ongoing updating process, Delta's 'new' address was not contained in the property appraiser's records and, thus, "was not available to the tax collector or to the clerk when the notices of sale were mailed." (Id. at 6).

Upon realizing that there was no factual basis for its theory that the clerk had failed to follow the statute and should have utilized Delta's alleged "new" address, Delta abandoned its theory and argued that <u>Jones v. Flowers</u> 547 U.S. 220 (2006), and <u>Vosilla v. Rosado</u>, 944 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 2006), justified the trial court's holding that this Court's prior decision was "moot." (Op. at 6).

The First District here held that the sole legal issue presented was that identified in this Court's decision. Profile proved there was no updated assessment roll at the time the notices were mailed, as the "latest assessment roll... was, in fact, the roll certified in October 1999." (<u>Id.</u> at 7). Relying on this Court's decision in <u>Fla. Dept. of Transp. v. Juliano</u>, 801 So. 2d 101, 102 (Fla. 2001), and its decision in <u>Parker Family Trust I v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 804 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), the First District held that the law of the case doctrine requires that when successive appeals are taken in the same case, "a trial court is bound to follow prior rulings of the appellate court as long as the <u>facts</u> on which such decision are based continue to be the facts of the case," which was conceded by

Delta (Op. at 7-8). Delta's new theory that some other action on the part of the clerk was required, could have been raised at the beginning of this case but was not and the law of the case doctrine now prevented Delta from asserting this new theory. (Op. at 8).

To eliminate any question as to the viability of Delta's new claim, the First District recognized that <u>Jones</u> addressed the facial constitutionality of the Arkansas statute which, unlike Florida, required solely notice by certified mail (547 U.S. at 226). The U.S. Supreme Court specifically noted that many states, <u>including Florida</u>, require more, thereby satisfying due process (<u>id.</u> at 228, n.2). The First District noted that unlike the owner in <u>Jones</u>, Delta never claimed Florida's statutory procedure was unconstitutional, arguing only and successfully, that the clerk must utilize the most recent tax roll when preparing notices (Op. at 9).

The First District also addressed the inapplicability of <u>Vosilla</u> wherein the property owner <u>had</u>, <u>in fact</u>, provided the tax authorities with "an updated and correct mailing address, receipt of which was acknowledged by the clerk of the court. <u>See Vosilla</u> 944 So. 2d at 291." <u>Vosilla</u> noted that §197.522 is facially constitutional, but found an "as applied" due process depravation where the clerk has actual notice of a change of address but still sent the notice to a prior address (<u>id.</u> at 293, n. 2). Noting that Delta had <u>never</u> challenged the statutory procedure, the First District held that the trial court misapplied <u>Vosilla</u> by implicitly finding

that §197.522 was facially unconstitutional, an issue not addressed in <u>Vosilla</u> and never raised by Delta (Op. at 10-11). Because the dispositive question proved Profile's position, the First District reversed with directions that judgment be entered in favor of Profile.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District's decision here is based on the law of the case doctrine, which it held prevented Delta, after several appeals and a specific decision from this Court as to the dispositive legal issue, from changing theories when it discovered its theory had no factual basis. The First District's decision is in complete accord with this Court's decision in Fla. Dept. of Transp. V. Juliano, 801 So. 2d 101, 102 (Fla. 2001), on which it explicitly relied, along with its own decision in Parker Family Trust I v. City of Jacksonville, 804 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001).

There is no conflict with <u>Juliano</u> or with <u>Vosilla v. Rosado</u>, 944 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 2006). <u>Vosilla</u> does not involve the law of the case doctrine and is also factually inapposite. In <u>Vosilla</u> the property owner, in fact, provided a current address to the clerk who nonetheless mailed notice of a tax sale to a prior address. Here, Profile proved that there was no updated assessment roll and that even if the clerk had access to the preliminary roll, Delta's alleged "new" address was not

contained therein. <u>Vosilla</u>'s progeny likewise are factually inapposite and similarly do not involve any law of the case issue.

The First District's decision does not affect a class of constitutional officers. Instead, it rules only that a litigant may not change its theory after an appellate decision has determined the applicable law so long as the facts have not changed, which is the case here. As there is no conflict between the First District's decision and any decision from this Court or another district court, express and direct or otherwise, this Court should deny review.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH <u>VOSILLA V. ROSADO</u>, 944 SO. 2D 289 (FLA. 2006) OR WITH ANY OTHER DECISION AND DOES NOT AFFECT A CLASS OF CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATE OFFICERS

D. THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH <u>VOSILLA</u> OR ANY OTHER DECISION

The First District below specifically noted that this Court's prior decision addressed the <u>only</u> argument ever made by Delta, and identified the dispositive question to be determined on remand: Delta's claim that it had submitted a change of address to the tax collector and that if the clerk had only utilized the most recent tax roll, Delta would have received notice of the tax sale. This Court specifically held that the clerk was required to utilize the most recent assessment roll and erred by mailing notice to Delta's 1999 address "without determining if the 2000 tax

assessment roll was available," (Op. at 4), and remanded the case for resolution of this issue. The First District court below recognized that Profile proved that at the time notices were prepared, there was no year 2000 assessment roll available to the clerk and even if the clerk could have accessed the interim roll, Delta's alleged "new" address was not contained therein.

<u>Vosilla</u> was not decided on law of the case grounds, and involves materially different facts. Here the evidence proved that Delta did not provide the clerk with a "new" address at any time prior to the sale; In Vosilla, the taxing authorities had in fact information provided to them on several occasions that notice was being sent to an incorrect address. Under those circumstances, the owner's due process rights were violated when notice was mailed to an old address. 944 So. 2d at 300. There is manifestly no conflict: the First District here decided the case on law of the case principles, not an issue in Vosilla, and recognized the evidence proved no "new" address was ever submitted by Delta prior to the notices being mailed. Delta's claim of conflict with Patricia Weingarten Associates, Inc. v. Jocalbro, Inc. 974 So. 2d 559 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008), is likewise misplaced as like Vosilla, it is factually inapposite. There, the owner of numerous parcels provided the clerk with a change of address; tax bills for some properties were sent to the current address but others to an old address. The district court held that the tax collector having the correct address but not utilizing it for notice violated due process. There is also

no conflict with <u>Singleton v. Eli B. Investment Corp.</u>, 968 So. 2d 702 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007), which involved a <u>factual dispute</u> over the taxing authority's use of an incorrect address; the case was remanded for <u>evidentiary proceedings</u> (<u>id.</u> at 705-706). Again, the First District *sub judice* found there was uncontradicted evidence on the controlling issue: the clerk could not have accessed the year 2000 assessment roll prior to notice being sent; even if it had been able to access the interim 2000 assessment roll, Delta's alleged "new" address was not there.

According, there is no conflict with <u>Vosilla</u> or any of its progeny.

E. THERE IS NO CONFLICT CONCERNING THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE

Delta claims that the First District misapplied the law of the case doctrine, which is not used when there is an intervening decision by a higher court or where manifest injustice will result, citing State v. Owen, 696 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 1997), and Strazzulla v. Hendrick, 177 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1965), both of which are cited by the district court below (Op. at 7).

The First District's decision here is in complete accord with those decisions.

Unlike Owen, there is no "intervening" decision of a higher court which applies.

Jones addressed the <u>facial</u> validity of the Arkansas statute which, unlike Florida, required only notice by certified mail, and specifically recognized that Florida's statute contains such an additional component which comports with due process.

<u>Vosilla</u> is factually inapposite, as there the property owner had provided a current

address which was not used by the clerk, while here Delta did not provide anyone with a "new" address to which to send notice. According, neither Jones v. Flowers nor Vosilla are "intervening" decisions on the controlling issue. Accordingly, the First District's holding that the law of the case doctrine should have precluded Delta from changing its theory after this Court identified the controlling decision is in complete accord with Juliano, Owen, and Strazzulla, *supra*.

F. THIS CASE DOES NOT AFFECT A CLASS OF CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS

The First District here based its holding solely on the well-settled law that after an appellate court has ruled on the governing law in a case, a party may not change its theory so long as the facts have not changed. This manifestly has no impact whatsoever on the duties of the clerk or tax collector.

CONCLUSION

Jurisdiction does not exist as there is no conflict. The First District's decision below is in complete accord with the law of the case doctrine, this Court's prior decision in this case, with <u>Vosilla v. Rosado</u>, *supra*, and its progeny, and does not affect a class of constitutional officers. Accordingly, there is no jurisdiction and this Court should deny the petition for review.

William S. Graessle Florida Bar No. 498858 219 Newnan Street, 4th Floor Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 353-6333 (904) 353-2080 (facsimile) Attorney for Respondent